### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Case No. SC02-1488 TFB No. 2000-11,868(13F)

Complainant,

VS.

DAVID S. SHANKMAN

Respondent.	

# INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

Jodi Anderson Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 5521 W. Spruce Street Suite C-49 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 875-9821 Florida Bar No. 930180

#### **

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
A REHABILITATIVE SUSPENSION FOR TWO YEARS IS THE APPROPRIATE SANCTION FOR RESPONDENT'S INTENTIONAL DEPRIVATION OF LAW FIRM FUNDS FROM HIS PARTNERS AND OTHER MISCONDUCT, AS SUPPORTED

### **TABLE OF CITATIONS**

<u>CASES</u> <u>PAGE</u>
<u>The Florida Bar v. Arcia</u> , 848 So. 2d 296 (Fla. 2003)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Beach</u> , 675 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1996)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Farver</u> , 506 So. 2d 1031 (Fla. 1987)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Gillin</u> , 484 So. 2d 1218 (Fla. 1986)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Lord</u> , 433 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1983)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Niles</u> , 644 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 1994)
<u>The Florida Bar v. Ward</u> , 599 So. 2d 650 (Fla. 1992)
RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR RULES OF DISCIPLINE
Rule 3-7.7 3
Rule 4-1.3
Rule 4-1.7(b)
Rule 4-1.8(a)
Rule 4-4.1(a)
Rule 4-5.4(a)

Rule 4-8.4(c)
Rule 4-8.4(d)
FLORIDA STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS
Standard 9.21
Standard 9.22(b)
Standard 9.22(c)
Standard 9.22(d)
Standard 9.3
Standard 9.32(a)
Standard 9.32(e)
Standard 9.32(g)
Standard 9.32(j)
Standard 9.32(1)
Standard 12.1
Standard 12.1(a)
Standard 12.1(b)

#### **SYMBOLS AND REFERENCES**

In this Brief, The Florida Bar, Petitioner, will be referred to as "The Florida Bar" or "The Bar." The Respondent, David S. Shankman, will be referred to as "Respondent."

"TT" will refer to the transcript of the final hearing before the Referee in Supreme Court Case No. SC02-1488 held on December 23 and 24, 2003.

"SH" will refer to the transcript of the sanctions hearing before the Referee in Supreme Court Case No. SC02-1488 held on April 2, 2004.

"RR" will refer to the Amended Report of Referee dated April 29, 2004.

"TFB Exh." will refer to exhibits presented by The Florida Bar and "Respondent's Exh." will refer to exhibits presented by the Respondent at the final hearing before the Referee held on December 23 and 24, 2003.

"Rule" or "Rules" will refer to the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.

"Standard" or "Standards" will refer to the Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions.

# STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND OF THE CASE STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Florida Bar filed a three count Complaint in this matter on July 9, 2002. By Order dated July 25, 2002, The Honorable Thomas B. Freeman, County Court Judge, in and for the Sixth Judicial Circuit, was appointed as Referee in this case. The final hearing was held on December 23 and 24, 2003. On February 27, 2004, the Referee issued a Report of Referee finding the Respondent guilty.

On April 2, 2004, a sanctions hearing was held in this matter. On April 29, 2004, the Referee issued an Amended Report of Referee finding Respondent guilty of violating the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar: Rule 4-1.3 (a lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client); Rule 4-1.7(b) (a lawyer shall not represent a client if the lawyer's exercise of independent professional judgment in the representation of that client may be materially limited by the lawyer's responsibilities to another client or to a third person or by the lawyer's own interest, unless: (1) the lawyer reasonably believes the representation will not be adversely affected; and (2) the client consents after consultation); Rule 4-1.8(a) (a lawyer shall not enter into a business transaction with a client or knowingly acquire an ownership, possessory, security, or other pecuniary interest

adverse to a client, except a lien granted by law to secure a lawyer's fee or expenses, unless: (1) the transaction and terms on which the lawyer acquires the interest are fair and reasonable to the client and are fully disclosed and transmitted in writing to the client in a manner that can be reasonably understood by the client; (2) the client is given a reasonable opportunity to seek the advice of independent counsel in the transaction; and (3) the client consents in writing thereto); **Rule 4-4.1(a)** (in the course of representing a client a lawyer shall not knowingly: (a) make a false statement of material fact or law to a third person); Rule 4-5.4(a) (a lawyer or law firm shall not share legal fees with a nonlawyer); Rule 4-8.4(a) (a lawyer shall not violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct, knowingly assist or induce another to do so, or do so through the acts of another); Rule 4-**8.4(c)** (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation); and Rule 4-8.4(d) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice). (RR 9, 12, 13, 14).

The Referee recommended that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of 90 days and receive two years of probation with the conditions that Respondent pay Ann Snow the sum of \$4,000.00, that Respondent

submit to random, semi-annual audits of his firm's operating account books during each year of probation, and that Respondent pay the Bar's costs in these proceedings. (RR 14-15).

The Amended Report of Referee was considered by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar at its meeting which ended on May 28, 2004. The Board of Governors voted to file a Petition for Review of the Referee's report and to seek Respondent's suspension from the practice of law for a period of two years, in addition to the conditions of probation recommended by the Referee. The Florida Bar filed a Petition for Review of the Referee's report with this Court on or about June 28, 2004. Pursuant to Rule 3-7.7, this Court has jurisdiction.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

As to Count I of the Complaint, the Referee found that in or about March of 1997, Respondent joined three lawyers, Debra M. Metzler, Max Mitchell Newman, and Robert Alan LeVine, to form the law firm of Newman, LeVine, Metzler & Shankman, P.A. in Tampa, Florida, hereinafter referred to as the "firm." (TT 7). Respondent was a shareholder in the firm from March of 1997 until his departure in March of 2000. (TT 8). Newman, LeVine, and Metzler concentrated their practice in the area of workers compensation, while Respondent concentrated his practice in the area of labor and employment law. (TT 9). Respondent drew a salary of

\$125,000.00 per year from the firm, and Newman, LeVine, and Metzler each drew salaries of \$100,000.00 per year from the firm. (TT 9).

Respondent brought his paralegal, Kimberly E. Miller, to the firm, and he later added an associate named Ann Snow and an administrative assistant named Marcy Zucker to create a new labor law department/litigation team for the firm. (TT 11-12). The firm marketed its labor law department to other lawyers by making telephone calls, hosting lunches, and offering to pay a 25% referral fee. (TT 10-11). The high referral fee was intended to attract business. (RR 7). As a result of the firm's marketing efforts, Respondent began to receive referrals of employment-related plaintiff's cases on a contingency fee basis. (TT 10). All referral fee agreements were signed by the client, the referring attorney, and Respondent or some other representative of the firm. (TT 11).

The firm initially operated without formal written agreements between the shareholders. (TT 7-8). By late 1999, the firm had incurred approximately \$400,000.00 in debt for which the shareholders were jointly and severally liable. (TT 93, 95). By this time, Respondent's plaintiff's practice was generating regular fees, and Respondent was concerned about paying more than his share of the firm's debt. (TT 70). Respondent was unhappy with the way the firm was operating and how the money was being divided. (TT 70). In October of 1999,

Respondent threatened his fellow shareholders that if he did not receive a bonus in the Orr case, then he could not work for the firm anymore. (TT 298-299).

Respondent and the shareholders proposed different plans regarding how to handle the firm's finances. (RR 4). On or about December 30, 1999, the firm adopted a Shareholder's Agreement that was signed by Newman, LeVine, and Metzler. (TT 96; TFB Exh. 9). Respondent refused to sign the agreement because he was not happy with certain aspects of it. (TT 96-97; TFB Exh. 9). The Shareholder Agreement provided that each shareholder would be entirely responsible for the costs associated with their legal practice, and that surplus revenues generated by a shareholder's practice would either be applied to the shareholder's proportional share of debt or be distributed by the firm to the shareholder. (TT 100; TFB Exh. 9). In or about early 2000, Respondent put into effect a bonus plan for his department. (TT 317-318). Respondent promised to pay his associate, Ann Snow, 20% of the surplus revenues. (TT 317). Respondent also promised to pay 7% to his paralegal, Kimberly Miller, and 3% to his administrative assistant, Marcy Zucker. (TT 317-318). The remaining 70% went to Respondent. (TT 317).

In or about June of 1997, Attorney William McAnnally referred Dale Hatmaker to the firm regarding a labor and employment case. (TT 13, 133-134).

On or about June 19, 1997, a Referral Fee Agreement was executed by Mr. McAnnally, Mr. Hatmaker, and the Respondent which stated that Mr. McAnnally was entitled to a 25% referral fee for referring the case to the firm. (TFB Exh. 1).

Respondent began representing Mr. Hatmaker in June of 1997, and the representation continued through mediation and settlement of the case. (TT 351, 361, 367). At the mediation in February of 2000, the case settled for \$195,000.00. (TT 13, 366-367). According to the contingency fee agreement signed by Mr. Hatmaker, the firm was entitled to receive 40% of the settlement for attorney's fees, reflecting a sum of \$78,000.00. (TT 257). Respondent represented to Ms. Metzler that it was necessary for the firm to reduce its attorney's fees because Mr. Hatmaker wanted to receive a net recovery of \$150,000.00 out of the \$195,000.00 settlement. (TT 68, 233). Ms. Metzler did not object to the firm's reduction of attorney's fees. (TT 68). Respondent informed Mr. Hatmaker that the firm would reduce its fees by \$38,000.00. (TT 365; TFB Exh. 2). Mr. Hatmaker received \$150,000.00, and the firm received \$40,000.00 for attorney's fees and \$5,000.00 for costs. (TT 354; TFB Exh. 2).

Based on the Referral Fee Agreement, Mr. McAnnally was entitled to receive 25% of the fee, reflecting a sum of \$10,000.00. (TT 354; TFB Exh. 1).

Respondent suggested to Mr. Newman that Mr. McAnnally's referral fee should be

reduced to \$5,000.00 because of the small amount of work that Mr. McAnnally performed in the case, and Mr. Newman did not object to this. (TT 354-355; TFB Exh. 14). The Referral Fee Agreement did not condition payment of the full 25% on participation in the case. (TT 427; TFB Exh. 1). Mr. McAnnally initially rejected Respondent's \$5,000.00 offer, but later agreed to accept it. (TFB Exhs. 13, 15). The firm paid Mr. McAnnally a referral fee of \$5,000.00. (TFB Exh. 2).

After the Hatmaker case settled, Respondent threatened to leave the firm unless he received a bonus from the Hatmaker case. (TT 15, 71). The firm agreed to pay Respondent a bonus in the amount of \$18,400.00 from the firm's \$40,000.00 fee. (TT 15, 74).

On or about February 28, 2000, Respondent picked up two settlement checks for the Hatmaker case. (TT 370, 371). One check was for attorney's fees and costs in the amount of \$45,000.00 made payable to Newman, LeVine, Metzler & Shankman. (TT 371). The second check in the amount of \$150,000.00 was made payable to Dale Hatmaker. (TT 370, 371). Respondent then accompanied Mr. Hatmaker to the bank with the settlement checks because Mr. Hatmaker was unsophisticated, did not have experience in handling large sums of money, and did not have the education to properly invest or manage the money. (TT 371-372).

While at the bank, Mr. Hatmaker gave Respondent an envelope that

contained \$20,000.00 in cash, which Respondent accepted. (TT 373). Mr. Hatmaker informed Respondent that this was his "bonus" for doing a good job. (TT 258, 373, 374). Mr. Hatmaker did not inform the firm's other shareholders or Ms. Snow that he gave Respondent a "bonus." (TT 247, 250). Respondent placed the \$20,000.00 in cash in the ceiling in his home. (TT 381-382). Respondent failed to disclose to his fellow shareholders at the firm or to Ms. Snow that he received the \$20,000.00 cash "bonus" from Mr. Hatmaker. (TT 178, 385-386). Respondent failed to share any portion of this \$20,000.00 with his fellow shareholders or Ms. Snow. (TT 385-386, 430). Ms. Snow subsequently discovered Respondent's conduct and disclosed it to the firm. (TT 24-25, 176). At the time Mr. Hatmaker gave the Respondent \$20,000.00, he was employed as a rental associate at Nations Rent, earned approximately \$22,000.00 per year, and supported one minor child. (TT 215, 256). Although Respondent later developed a friendship with Mr. Hatmaker, they had no relationship prior to the representation. (TT 448-449; RR 8). The Referee found that Respondent took unfair advantage of a vulnerable, emotional person, dependent upon the Respondent for advice and trust in a fiduciary relationship. (RR 9). The Referee further concluded that Respondent should not have taken the money from Mr. Hatmaker, which resulted in a 13% reduction of Mr. Hatmaker's net settlement. (RR 8). Respondent never

offered to return the \$20,000.00 to Mr. Hatmaker. (TT 450; SH 28). Respondent reported the cash as income on his tax return. (TT 424). According to Respondent's bonus plan for his department, Ms. Snow was entitled to 20%, or \$4,000.00, of the \$20,000.00 that Respondent received from Mr. Hatmaker. (TT 378-379; Respondent's Exh. 12). In the Amended Report of Referee, the Referee ordered Respondent to pay Ms. Snow \$4,000.00, representing 20% of the funds delivered to Respondent by Mr. Hatmaker. (RR 14-15).

As to Count II of the Complaint, the Referee found that while working at the firm, Respondent began representing a client named Patricia Kaptzan in an unemployment compensation case. (TT 386-387). Ms. Kaptzan paid an initial retainer to the firm in the amount of \$1,000.00 for Respondent to represent her at the unemployment compensation hearing. (TT 387). Respondent attended the unemployment compensation hearing with Ms. Kaptzan on February 29, 2000, and Ms. Kaptzan was awarded benefits. (TT 388-389). In early March of 2000, Respondent began working on a second cause of action on behalf of Ms. Kaptzan involving a whistle blower claim against her former employer. (TT 392). On or about March 17, 2000, Respondent left the firm and joined the law firm of Ruden, McCloskey, Smith, Schuster, and Russell. (TT 392-394). At that time, the Kaptzan case was still an open matter. (TT 389). Respondent took the Kaptzan

case with him to the Ruden, McCloskey firm without disclosing it to the shareholders of his former firm. (TT 26, 393).

On March 20, 2000, the firm generated a pre-bill for Patricia Kaptzan v. Refund Service, reflecting the costs associated with the case. (TT 27-28; TFB Exh. 4). On the pre-bill, Respondent hand wrote "W/O," which stood for "writeoff," to indicate that the \$372.58 in case costs should be written off by the firm. (TT 28, 389-390; TFB Exh. 4). Respondent's handwritten notation gave the firm's bookkeeper the impression that the case was closed, resulting in the case being listed as a closed case in the firm's records. (TT 28). As of March 20, 2000, the Kaptzan case was still an open matter. (TT 389). In a March 27, 2000 e-mail, Respondent failed to disclose to the shareholders at his former firm that he took a total of six active cases, including the Kaptzan case, with him to the Ruden, McCloskey firm. (TT 30; TFB Exh. 3). The omission was a willful act that shows Respondent's intent for self help in the ongoing dispute with his former firm. (RR 11). Respondent's conduct was calculated to remove as many assets as possible from the firm for himself. (RR 10).

On or about April 11, 2000, while Respondent was working at the Ruden, McCloskey firm, the Kaptzan case settled and Ms. Kaptzan signed an Agreement, General Release And Disclaimer. (TT 393-394; TFB Exh. 5). Respondent failed

to disclose to the shareholders at his former firm that he had settled the Kaptzan case. (TT 394). The Kaptzan settlement agreement provided for installment payments. (TT 393). Respondent received the first payment of attorney's fees in the amount of \$8,250.00 on or about April 11, 2000. (TT 393; TFB Exh. 5). Respondent shared a portion of the attorney's fees with Ms. Snow in the amount of \$1,650.00. (TT 395). Respondent also shared a portion of these attorney's fees with Ms. Miller, his paralegal, who is not a licensed attorney. (TT 183-184). Subsequently, Respondent received additional installment payments of attorney's fees totaling \$23,150.00. (TT 395-396; TFB Exh. 5). Respondent did not share any portion of these subsequent payments with Ms. Snow or Ms. Miller. (TT 396). Respondent received a total of \$31,400.00 in attorney's fees from the Kaptzan settlement. (TFB Exh. 5). Respondent did not share any portion of these fees with the other shareholders of his former firm until after his conduct was discovered. (TT 394; TFB Exh. 5).

As to Count III of the Complaint, the Referee found that while working at the firm, Respondent began representing Lance Laundy, the plaintiff in a wrongful termination case. (TT 184). On or about December 24, 1998, the defendant, Contec International Limited Partnership, filed a motion for summary judgment. (TT 185). After Respondent received the motion for summary judgment, he had 20

days to file a response. (TT 185). Respondent instructed Ms. Snow to start working on the facts section of the memorandum of law in opposition to the motion for summary judgment. (TT 404). After Ms. Snow completed her portion of the memorandum of law in opposition to the motion for summary judgment, and prior to the expiration of the 20-day time period for filing a response, Ms. Snow had discussions with Respondent about Respondent's completing his portion of the memorandum of law. (TT 186). Ms. Snow put "Post it" notes on Respondent's computer screen and on the double doors to his office to remind him to complete the memorandum of law in opposition to the motion for summary judgment before the 20-day time period expired. (TT 186).

Respondent testified that he believed that the defendant's motion for summary judgment was not timely filed, and therefore he failed to file a response to the motion for summary judgment within the 20-day time period. (TT 405-407). Judge Susan Bucklew then issued an Order granting the defendant's motion for summary judgment. (TT 187). Ms. Snow testified that Respondent created the excuse that the defendant's motion for summary judgment was not timely filed after the summary judgment had been granted. (TT 188). After the granting of summary judgment, Respondent advised his fellow shareholders at the firm of the adverse ruling. (TT 407). Respondent and the other shareholders agreed that they should

put their malpractice carrier on notice of a potential claim. (TT 407-408). The Referee found that Respondent's explanation that he believed Judge Bucklew would strike or ignore the defendant's motion for summary judgment because it had not been timely filed was not plausible. (RR 13). Further, as stated in the Report of Referee, Respondent's excuses and rationales do not justify his conduct, based on his clear duty and obligations to respond to a motion filed against his client in a Federal Court case. (RR 13).

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Respondent should receive a rehabilitative suspension from the practice of law for a period of two years, and upon reinstatement be placed on probation for two years with the conditions recommended by the Referee, based upon Respondent's attempt to intentionally deprive his former firm of funds, and for other misconduct. Respondent caused actual financial harm to the shareholders of his former firm by intentionally depriving them of thousands of dollars in legal fees that were paid directly to him by the firm's clients. It was only after being caught that Respondent acknowledged receipt of the money and ultimately entered into a settlement agreement with his firm.

Respondent committed multiple acts of serious misconduct reflecting his dishonest and selfish motives. Respondent obtained a financial benefit by failing to disclose and share with the shareholders of his former firm the fees that he received in the Hatmaker and Kaptzan cases. Respondent also acted dishonestly by failing to disclose to the firm shareholders that he took several active cases with him to his new law firm.

Respondent violated the trust of his fellow shareholders by concealing

information and by engaging in a scheme intended to mislead the shareholders in order to deprive the firm of funds. Respondent's misconduct, therefore, warrants the severe sanction of a two-year rehabilitative suspension in addition to probation with conditions recommended by the Referee.

#### **ARGUMENT**

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