IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Complainant,

VS.

Case No. SC02-1488 TFB File No. 2000-11,868(13F)

DAVID S. SHANKMAN,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

John A. Weiss Attorney Number 0185229 Weiss & Etkin 2937 Kerry Forest Parkway, Suite B-2 Tallahassee, Florida 32309 (850) 893-5854

David S. Shankman Attorney Number 0940186 Shankman, Leone & Westerman, P.A. 215 West Verne Street, Suite A Tampa, FL 33606-2320 813-258-1099

CO-COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court has said on numerous occasions that a Referee's recommended discipline will be upheld unless it is without reasonable basis in Florida jurisprudence. Specifically,

We will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law. *Florida Bar v. Lecznar*, 690 So.2d 1284, 1288 (Fla. 1997).

There are numerous cases that support the Referee's recommended discipline. As discussed in sections A and C of Respondent's argument, they include *Florida Bar v. Cox*, 655 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1995) (30 days suspension); *Florida Bar v. Childers*, 582 So.2d 617 (Fla. 1991) (90 days suspension); *Florida Bar v. Stalnaker*, 485 So.2d 815 (Fla. 1986) (90 days suspension); *Florida Bar v. Herzog*, 521 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 1988) (10 days suspension); *Florida Bar v. Bradham*, 446 So.2d 96 (Fla. 1984) (30 days suspension); and *Inquiry Concerning a Judge re: Davey*, 645 So.2d 398 (Fla. 1994) (public reprimand).

When the Referee's recommended discipline is compared to the mitigation involved in this case, particularly the Referee's finding that Respondent's conduct was out of character for him, that his former partners did not have "clean hands," and that Respondent's conduct occurred four years ago, a 90-day suspension is the

appropriate discipline to be imposed. This is particularly true when the Referee specifically considered and rejected the necessity of proof of rehabilitation. SH 89, RR 17.

Despite the Bar's arguments to the contrary, the Referee did not find any misappropriation of firm funds by Respondent. Nor did he find that Respondent intentionally deprived his former firm of any funds. In fact, the testimony was that any funds that Respondent received from Hatmaker or Kaptzan, even had they been reported to the firm, could have only been used in two ways: first, to give Respondent a bonus or, secondly, to reduce Respondent's share of the firm's indebtedness. TT. 100. While the Referee clearly criticized Respondent's self-help measures, he found that Respondent's conduct was "out of character for him" and was attributable to "the stress surrounding the firm's financial situation." RR 17.

The Referee's recommendation that Respondent be suspended for 90 days should be adopted by this Court. This is the longest suspension that can be imposed without requiring proof of rehabilitation. The Referee specifically considered and rejected any requirement that Respondent prove rehabilitation before reinstatement at the end of his suspension. SH 89, RR 17.

ARGUMENT

THE NINETY-DAY SUSPENSION FOLLOWED BY TWO YEARS PROBATION AS RECOMMENDED BY THE REFEREE IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CASE IN LIGHT OF THE REFEREE'S FAILURE TO FIND ANY MISAPPROPRIATION.

A. T H E R E F E R E E 'S RECOMMENDATION MUST BE FOLLOWED BECAUSE IT IS "CLEARLY [ON] THE MARK."

The only issue before this Court is the propriety of the Referee's recommendation that Respondent receive a 90-day suspension and two years' probation for his misconduct. The Bar has not appealed the Referee's findings of fact or his conclusions of law. The Bar has the burden of proving the Referee's recommendation is "erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified." R.Reg.Fla.Bar 3-7.7(c)(5). The Bar has failed to meet its burden and the Referee's recommendation that Respondent be suspended for 90 days should be upheld.

This Court has set forth a firm rule that a referee's recommended discipline will not be reversed as long as there is some basis for that recommendation. For example, in *Florida Bar v. Lecznar*, 690 So.2d 1284, 1288 (Fla. 1997), this Court stated:

We will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law.

Similarly, in *Florida Bar v. Dunagan*, 731 So.2d 1237, 1242 (Fla. 1999), the Court held that:

The referee's recommendation is presumed correct and will be followed if reasonably supported by existing case law and not "clearly off the mark". *The Florida Bar v. Vining*, 707 So.2d 670, 673 (Fla. 1998).

The Referee's recommendation that Respondent receive a 90-day suspension, as argued in section C below, is reasonably based on existing case law and is not "clearly off the mark." Accordingly, it must be upheld.

This Court's rule regarding referee's recommendations as to discipline is well-reasoned and should be followed. There are many factors inherent in a referee's recommended discipline. Case law is but one of them. Unlike this Court, a referee is in a position to observe the witnesses testifying and, perhaps even more importantly, to study the respondent as he or she testifies. Such an advantageous position, i.e., sitting in the "cat bird seat" as the famous Red Barber often stated during his illustrious career as a baseball announcer, gives the referee a superior position to make decisions on subjective matters. As stated in *Florida Bar v. Tauler*, 775 So.2d 944, 946 (Fla. 2000):

However, this Court has recognized that the referee "occupies a favored vantage point for assessing key considerations—such as a respondent's degree of culpability and his or her cooperation, forthrightness, remorse, and

rehabilitation (or potential for rehabilitation)," and therefore the Court "will not second-guess a referee's recommended discipline as long as that discipline has a reasonable basis in existing case law." *Florida Bar v. Lecznar*, 690 So.2d 1284, 1288 (Fla. 1977).

This is not a case where a referee blithely signed a proposed referee report without stating his thoughts on the record. Specifically, starting on page 87 of the April 2, 2004 dispositional hearing transcript, the Referee made his observations known to counsel and to Respondent. Comments made by the Referee include:

I don't think that this conduct arises nearly to the level of *Arcia* [*Florida Bar v. Arcia*, 848 So.2d 296 (Fla. 2003)]. I don't think it arises to the level of *Davey* [*Inquiry Concerning a Judge re: Davey*, 645 So.2d 398 (Fla. 1994)]. *Arcia* was a long period of time of activities. A real well-documented embezzlement scheme that was entered into [with] malice aforethought, designed and planned for years. What I saw and heard, came to believe in this [Mr. Shankman's] particular case is that decisions were being made by people in the Newman firm on self-help. I have a hard time with the concept that one partner [Mr. LeVine] would be paying alimony, that they don't have a hard enough time to make the payments for the salaries that month. SH 87.

* * *

All right. What I found was that this partnership was a financial disaster. . . . The firm had acquiesced on Mr. Shankman's demands for more money out of it, and I saw a change in his attitude during those two days we had the hearing. He was a lot less defensive the last day than he was the first day.

I didn't see anything in the pleadings or the defense of this case that indicates that he [Mr. Shankman] was trying to obstruct the Bar, lie to the Bar. I think I tried to make it clear in my [preliminary] report that I was not by clear and convincing evidence convinced that Mr. Hatfield (sic) was taking part in some scheme, although he financially gained to it. I don't think that he [Mr. Shankman] should have to go through rehabilitation. SH 88, 89 (emphasis added).

As to mitigation, the Referee found the following:

I think he did represent his clients well. He's maintained his business [his new firm] well. I think he did cooperate with the Bar as far as reasonable and no priors. SH 95.

* * *

I found he had some truthful remorse. I didn't see any the first day, but I think the more he sat there and listened to people talk . . . especially the second day, you could see the remorse. SH 95.

* * *

Interim rehabilitation. SH 95.

* * *

I think, like everybody said, he was a good lawyer. SH 95.

* * *

I find that this was out of character caused by the stress. SH 95, 96.

In his Amended Report of Referee, signed on April 29, 2004, Judge Freeman confirmed his rulings from the bench. He added, as special emphasis, however, the following thoughts:

I further find that Respondent's prior firm was a financial disaster. I find that *Respondent's conduct was out of character for him* and was caused by the stress surrounding the firm's financial situation.

I have specifically considered the issue of rehabilitation and, based on the evidence presented and my observations of the Respondent, I do not think that he should have to go through rehabilitation proceedings. RR 17.

The referee in disciplinary proceedings sits as this Court's eyes and ears. While this Court does indeed have the ultimate responsibility in determining discipline, *Florida Bar v. Niles*, 644 So.2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1994), on subjective evaluations it must rely on the referee's observations and recommendations. Here, the referee presiding over these proceedings, The Honorable Thomas B. Freeman, is a well-seasoned jurist. Judge Freeman carefully observed partners LeVine and Metzler as they testified. He obviously scrutinized Mr. Shankman as he testified and distinctly observed the change in demeanor by Mr. Shankman over the two days of final hearing on December 23 and December 24, 2003. He asked Mr. Shankman "hard questions." TT 445, 439-448. He listened to Mr. Shankman's acknowledgment of making mistakes, and of his acceptance of responsibility for his conduct. He listened to Mr. Shankman's promises

not to repeat his misconduct. SH 412. And then Judge Freeman specifically considered and rejected the necessity of requiring Respondent to go through rehabilitation proceedings. SH 89, RR 17. He further found that Mr. Shankman's conduct was out of character due to the stress of the firm's financial situation. RR 17. These are incredibly important factors to be weighed in determining the discipline to be imposed. Because a 90-day suspension is the maximum that can be imposed without proof of rehabilitation, the Referee's recommendation must be upheld.

As this Court stated in *Tauler, supra*, the referee's "favored vantage point . . " in recommending discipline must be followed unless it is completely without basis. Here, the Referee's recommendations are well-grounded in the law and, therefore, should be followed.

B. THERE WAS NO FINDING OF MISAPPROPRIATION.

Mr. Shankman is not guilty of misappropriation.

The Referee did not find Mr. Shankman misappropriated any funds.

Neither of the partners testifying against Mr. Shankman, Mr. LeVine and Ms. Metzler, accused him of stealing funds.

Mr. Hatmaker was insistent that the \$20,000 that he gave to Mr. Shankman was a gift. He has never, ever, strayed one inch from his assertions. TT 235, 236, 245, 254.

Mr. Shankman was found to have violated Rule 4-8.4(c) [a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation] for his "keeping quiet about the bonus" that he received from Mr. Hatmaker (Count One) and for "failing to inform his former firm . . ." of the Kaptzan fee and omitting the other five clients from the list of cases that he gave to his firm (although it must be stressed that none of those five cases were named nor was it ever brought into the record how much, if any, fees were obtained from those cases).

The Referee specifically found that:

I was not by clear and convincing evidence convinced that Mr. Hatfield (sic) was taking part in some scheme, . . . SH 89.

Inherent within that finding was the Referee's rejection of the Bar's position, and Ms. Snow's testimony and Beth Maringelli's sworn statements, that Mr. Hatmaker and Mr. Shankman hatched a scheme to defraud the firm out of any money. He specifically found that Respondent's misconduct in this regard was failing to inform the firm of his receipt of the \$20,000 gift.

The evidence overwhelmingly supported the Referee's finding that there was no agreement either before, during or after the Hatmaker mediation for Mr. Shankman to receive extra compensation. They were actively preparing for trial. TT 223, 360. They did not expect the mediation to succeed. TT 224, 361. In fact, the mediation almost fell through anyway because, after a \$195,000 figure had been reached, TECO would not give Mr. Hatmaker a journeyman rating. TT 237, 367.

The idea of a bonus to Mr. Shankman first arose in Mr. Hatmaker's mind immediately after mediation when he and Mr. Shankman were smoking celebratory cigars and having been at the Green Iguana. TT 240, 241.

Mr. Shankman was "taken aback" when he received Mr. Hatmaker's gift. In fact, Mr. Shankman "blew. . . off" Mr. Hatmaker's previous assertion that Mr. Shankman deserved a bonus. TT 245. There had been no discussions of any figure prior to the day Mr. Hatmaker handed Respondent an envelope with the gift in it. TT 245, 373, 375.

Mr. Hatmaker explained his giving a gift to Mr. Shankman during final hearing. He told Judge Freeman that Mr. Shankman had done "a great job" and that Mr. Shankman "took on a case that nobody else was willing to take." TT 241. Mr. Shankman never showed a lack of interest in the case simply because Mr. Hatmaker might lose. TT 222. Simply, put, Mr. Shankman believed in Mr. Hatmaker. TT 218.

Under the firm's December 30, 1999 agreement (TFB Exh. 9), even had Mr. Shankman reported the \$20,000 gift to his partners and had they considered it income, he would have gotten all of it back as a bonus. He had already received an \$18,400 bonus for the income he brought into the firm for the month of February (which exceeded the income brought in by all three of the other partners without the \$20,000 included) and adding the \$20,000 to that sum would have just increased his bonus to \$38,000.

Debra Metzler, the managing partner at the time the December 30, 1999 agreement was signed and in February 2000, testified that the thrust of the new agreement was:

- Q. Exactly. How did this change the compensation structure, this being the December 30th, 1999, agreement?
- A. Well, it said that after expenses and debt are met, the shareholder is going to be entitled to what is essentially their net profit. TT 100.

* * *

It was my [Ms. Metzler's] intent that you could take a bonus if we were secured enough to know that you had other regular income coming in; that you satisfied your debt at least for that month in which you were taking the bonus; and that there was some structure for long-term plaintiffs' revenue to cover the portion of what I call the long-term debt, the lease and those sort of things. TT 101.

Ms. Metzler acknowledged that partner Newman got a \$13,000 bonus for February 2000. She further acknowledged that his bonus was not attributable to any particular case, but was attributable to the total amount of income that he brought in the month of February. When asked if Mr. Newman got the bonus because he made his "nut" she responded, "That's correct." TT 102.

Mr. Shankman received an \$18,400 bonus for the revenue he produced in February 2000. That revenue included the Hatmaker case. If another \$20,000 revenue had come in which had been attributable to the Hatmaker case, since all of the expenses from that case had already been paid, Mr. Shankman would have received the entire corpus as an additional bonus because it, like the \$18,400, exceeded his "nut."

Ms. Metzler testified that in February 2000, Mr. Shankman collected \$67,404.10 in revenue for the firm, of which \$49,650.92 were fees and \$17,753 were costs. TT 106, 107. Throwing Mr. Hatmaker's gift into the hopper would have increased the fees collected total to \$89,650.92.

Mr. Shankman collected more fees for the firm in February 2000, only the second month that the new agreement was in force, than the fees collected by the rest of the partners and associates in the firm put together. TT 109. In the month of February, Ms. Metzler collected \$5,820 in fees. Mr. Newman collected \$21,201 in

fees (and he received a \$13,000 bonus for his efforts) and Mr. LeVine collected \$1,892 in fees. TT 108.

Had the \$20,000 gifted to Mr. Shankman by Mr. Hatmaker been counted as fees, Mr. Shankman's revenue for the month of February 2000 would have been increased by an additional \$20,000 and, therefore, his bonus would have been increased by a like amount.

While the firm had the option of requiring Mr. Shankman to apply his fees towards the firm's gargantuan \$400,000 debt, it clearly was not requiring the partners in February 2000 to do that. Mr. Newman got a \$13,000 bonus and Mr. Shankman got an \$18,400 bonus.

The Referee specifically noted that the December 1999 shareholders agreement resulted in each shareholder being responsible only for his or her costs (RR 4)

And that surplus revenues generated by a shareholder's practice would either be applied to the shareholder's proportional share of debt or be distributed or paid by the Firm to the Shareholder. RR 4.

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